STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Lexington County

Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

FEB 26 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGORY LAMONT BROOKS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002301

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err by instructing the jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon where the evidence presented would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide because the instruction impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to Appellant and reduced the state's burden of proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt?

II. Did the trial judge err by excluding two photographs of a .22 caliber gun as irrelevant and confusing or misleading to the jury, because the photographs (1) were found by police on the phone of a patron of the bar, where the shooting occurred and who was present during the shooting, (2) showed a gun of the same caliber as the shell casings found at the scene, and (3) the owner of phone had been in communication with an official suspect in the shooting and the defense was presenting evidence of third party guilt?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 1, 2015, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Appellant for possession of a weapon during a violent crime (2015-GS-32-1347) and murder (2015-GS-32-1349). R. 544-545; R. 547-548. The state, represented by Rhonda Patterson and Lester “Gill” Bell, called the case for trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith and a jury on October 31 – November 3, 2016. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 537, ll. 12-19. Judge Griffith sentenced Appellant to thirty-five years’ imprisonment for murder and five years’ imprisonment for the weapon. R. 538, ll. 13-17; R. 546; R. 549. He ordered the sentences to be served concurrently. R. 538, ll. 13-17; R. 546; R. 549.

On November 14, 2016, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

When Appellant was sixteen years old, he was shot. R. 313, ll. 14-17. One of the bullets struck his right hand, breaking the bones. R. 313, ll. 18-22. As a result, he had a difficult time grasping things with his right hand. R. 313, ll. 23-24. Unfortunately, Appellant was right-handed, and the injury seriously hindered his abilities. R. 313, l. 25 – R. 314, l. 1. As a result, Appellant did not own a gun and was scared of guns. R. 314, ll. 11-18.

On February 1, 2014, Appellant spent the day helping his girlfriend and her family move. R. 296, ll. 1-4; R. 296, ll. 20-24; R. 297, ll. 2-3; R. 297, ll. 9-23. Later that night, he and his friends, Eric Brown and Arnold Banks, met at the Cockpit Bar and Grill. R. 403, l. 18 – R. 404, l. 25; R. 417, ll. 12-14; R. 431, ll. 14-22; R. 431, ll. 23-24. Appellant rode to the bar with Eric in a dark gray Eclipse. R. 404, ll. 10-20.

Also at the Cockpit were Rickena Knightner, Brandon Ratliff, Andre Bunch, and Fred Moss. R. 127, ll. 12-25; R. 158, ll. 11-14; R. 357, ll. 3-7; R. 431, ll. 23-24. Andre kept a loaded a nine-millimeter Smith and Wesson semiautomatic handgun in his car, which he drove to the Cockpit. R. 129, ll. 2-5; R. 136, ll. 16-21; R. 142, ll. 11-22. After the shooting later in the night, the police found the gun along with a magazine and eight unspent rounds in the glove box of his car. R. 118, ll. 15-17; R. 119, ll. 2-6; R. 120, ll. 12-14; R. 228, ll. 14-20. The gun could hold fifteen rounds. R. 122, ll. 1-3.

Fred and Brandon arrived at the bar in Fred's car. R. 158, l. 24 – R. 159, l. 7. Brandon had a .40 caliber gun that he was known to carry in a holster. R. 146, ll. 4-20; R. 155, ll. 10-16; R. 176, ll. 8-9. In fact, Fred assumed Brandon had a .45 caliber gun in the glove compartment of Fred's car while they were at the Cockpit. R. 197, ll. 2-8. After the shooting, inside Fred's car,

the police found Brandon's holster, but no gun, on the passenger side floorboard. R. 108, ll. 22-24; R. 109, ll. 13-15; R. 197, ll. 16-19; Defendant's Exhibit #22.

Arnold and Rickena were involved in a sexual relationship. R. 311, ll. 2-14; R. 429, l. 19 – R. 430, l. 5.<sup>1</sup> Rickena was very intoxicated and continued to press Arnold to leave the club with her, but Arnold refused, upsetting Rickena. R. 432, ll. 7-13.

Shortly before the bar closed, there was an altercation between two people or two groups of people. R. 129, ll. 6-10; R. 407, ll. 10-14; R. 434, ll. 9-15. By all accounts, Fred was involved in the altercation inside the bar. R. 129, ll. 17-19. According to Fred, he saw a "female at the bar so [he] indulged in conversation" with her. R. 165, ll. 16-19. Within minutes of indulging in this conversation, "the whole floor" of people in the bar were looking his way. R. 165, ll. 19-23. Fred claimed a guy with long dreads approached him, saying "something slick." R. 166, ll. 3-9. Suddenly, Brandon appeared, telling Fred that it was time to go. R. 167, ll. 8-21.

Rickena claimed Appellant and Eric were involved in the argument as well. R. 359, l. 19 – R. 360, l. 4. After she allegedly tried to convince Arnold not to get involved and he refused, she and her friend decided to leave. R. 360, ll. 18-21. Her friend went to the restroom as Rickena went outside to wait by the car. R. 360, ll. 21-25.

After security separated the men, Brandon, Fred, and their friends were escorted outside by security. R. 130, ll. 11-12; R. 148, ll. 1-6; R. 408, ll. 5-9; R. 434, ll. 15-17. Within ten or fifteen minutes, the bar announced it was closing so the patrons started to leave. R. 156, ll. 9-15; R. 408, ll. 10-12. Andre closed his tab and walked out approximately five minutes after his friends left. R. 130, ll. 13-19.

---

<sup>1</sup> Rickena Knightner denied ever dating Arnold Brown. R. 374, ll. 20-25.

Fred and Brandon walked toward Fred's car. R. 168, ll. 4-5. Fred claimed the "same guys" from inside the bar had followed him out and were behind him. R. 168, ll. 12-13. He claimed he saw two men with dreadlocks. R. 168, ll. 13-15. Initially, Fred was talking big to the men and pretending he was armed. R. 199, l. 11 – R. 200, l. 1. However, Fred saw one of the men with dreadlocks flash a black nine-millimeter gun. R. 169, ll. 17-22; R. 199, l. 11 – R. 200, l. 1. This shut Fred up and stopped his posturing. R. 169, ll. 9-12; R. 199, l. 11 – R. 200, l. 1. Suddenly, the other man, not the one who had flashed the gun, started shooting while walking backwards with the gun. R. 170, l. 23 – R. 171, l. 4; R. 193, ll. 24-25; R. 194, ll. 16-25. Fred ducked. R. 171, ll. 5-6.

Rickena saw some of the men who had been arguing standing outside of the bar at the top of a hill. R. 362, ll. 13-23. She claimed a commotion at the top of the hill caught her attention. R. 363, ll. 1-5. She further claimed she saw Appellant with a gun. R. 363, ll. 5-25. When she yelled out to Appellant, he told her to get down, which she did. R. 363, l. 24 – R. 364, l. 4. According to Rickena, Appellant got into a car that pulled up not far from her. R. 364, ll. 5-8. After the shooting, she and her friend ran up the hill to see whom had been shot. R. 365, ll. 5-15. Upon realizing they did not know the person, they returned to Rickena's car, and she called 911. R. 365, ll. 14-21.

Arnold walked out of the bar after the men who were arguing left. R. 434, l. 24 – R. 435, l. 2. When he was walking by the men to get to his car, he heard them continuing to argue. R. 435, ll. 1-2. Arnold did not see Appellant or Eric near the men. R. 437, ll. 2-5. Within five minutes of leaving the bar, Arnold heard gunshots. R. 438, ll. 5-11. Arnold heard shots from more than one gun. R. 438, ll. 20-23. Fearful, he jumped into his truck and left the area for home. R. 438, ll. 18-19; R. 439, ll. 4-5.

While Eric was leaving the bar around closing time, he heard gunshots. R. 408, ll. 17-18. He heard more than one gun firing shots. R. 408, l. 18. He ran to his car. R. 408, l. 19. As he was driving toward the exit, Appellant knocked on his passenger side window asking to be let in to the car. R. 409, ll. 6-8. The shots were still firing. R. 409, ll. 12-13. Eric stopped his car so that Appellant, who was unarmed, could get inside. R. 409, ll. 14-15. He and Appellant then went to Eric's house. R. 409, ll. 18-19.

Andre claimed that when he walked outside of the bar, he saw a group of men fussing with Fred. R. 130, ll. 23-25. Brandon was standing nearby at Fred's car. R. 131, ll. 4-13. As Andre walked to his car, he heard gunshots. R. 133, ll. 1-2. Andre jumped into his car and headed toward where Fred and Brandon had been because he was concerned for them as they had been arguing. R. 133, ll. 9-20. Andre arrived at the area within seconds. R. 134, l. 2. He saw Brandon on his back in the middle of the highway in front of the bar. R. 134, ll. 8-14; R. 175, ll. 4-6. Andre picked up Brandon, placed him in his backseat and drove to the hospital. R. 135, ll. 17-21; R. 176, ll. 5-7. Fred accompanied them. R. 135, ll. 17-21; R. 176, ll. 5-7. Brandon died as a result of exsanguination due to laceration of the heart by a gunshot wound to the chest. R. 216, ll. 3-6.

The identification of Appellant as the shooter by Fred and Rickena depended largely on his having dreadlocks. R. 177, ll. 23-24; R. 184, ll. 2-10; R. 328, l. 18 – R. 329, l. 9; R. 330, ll. 11-15; R. 344, l. 8 – R. 345, l. 11; R. 348, ll. 20-22; R. 367, ll. 1-3; R. 370, ll. 8-20; R. 372, ll. 14-20. However, as the evidence made clear, Appellant was far from the only person at the bar with dreadlocks. R. 147, ll. 8-14. Eric had dreadlocks a little longer than Appellant's. R. 410, ll. 2-7. Dashun Curry also had dreadlocks, which were slightly longer than Appellant's. R. 313, ll. 6-8; R. 410, ll. 8-12.

On April 21, 2014, months after the shooting, the police interviewed Dashun. R. 347, ll. 11-16. Without explaining how, the police eliminated Dashun as a suspect. R. 347, l. 25 – R. 348, l. 11. The police seized Dashun’s cell phone, but did not explain if a search of that phone exonerated Dashun. R. 348, ll. 4-11. The police claimed Dashun did not meet the description of the shooter provided by Fred and Rickena. R. 348, ll. 12-14. There was a reward offered for anyone offering information to assist the investigation. R. 411, ll. 19-24; Defendant’s Exhibit #44. A \$10,000 reward was paid “for a name.” R. 353, ll. 13-21; R. 479, ll. 1-11.

The police tracked down one of the people who had called 911 to report the shooting. R. 248, ll. 6-20. This person told the 911 operator and the police that her name was “Shontay Jones” and that she “was standing right by the shooter.” R. 248, ll. 19-25; R. 365, l. 24 – R. 366, l. 9; R. 375, l. 24 – R. 376, l. 8. Several days after the shooting, the police met with “Ms. Jones.” R. 249, ll. 1-2. “Ms. Jones” provided a description of the shooter – “short, black male that had small eyes and that had dreads.” R. 249, ll. 16-18; R. 376, ll. 11-15. “Ms. Jones” did not provide the police with a name, despite the fact that at trial, she claimed she knew the shooter’s name and had known him for quite some time. R. 366, ll. 17-25; R. 367, ll. 4-10; R. 370, ll. 21-25. In fact, “Ms. Jones” told the police she did not know who the shooter was. R. 378, ll. 8-12. “Ms. Jones” even agreed to meet with a sketch artist to provide a description for a composite drawing. R. 250, ll. 9-21; R. 367, ll. 11-14. Eventually, the police learned “Ms. Jones” was not whom she claimed to be. R. 249, ll. 19-23. She had lied about her identity. R. 249, ll. 22-23. In fact, “Ms. Jones” was Rickena Knightener. R. 366, ll. 6-9.

Despite Rickena’s claims to the police otherwise, Rickena was very familiar with Appellant. R. 358, ll. 4-23; R. 359, ll. 1-8.

When the police arrived at the bar, there was mass confusion and chaos as people left in cars and on foot as quickly as possible. R. 35, l. 18 – R. 36, l. 25; R. 40, l. 23 – R. 41, l. 4; R. 42, ll. 4-9. “[C]ars and people [were] everywhere.” R. 55, ll. 20-24. The bar’s patrons continued to run even after the police “secured the scene.” R. 46, ll. 9-12; R. 56, ll. 9-15.

The police found ten .22 caliber spent shell casings along a diagonal line from the bar’s front door to the blood in the roadway. R. 57, ll. 17-22; R. 71, ll. 12-16. The casings were obviously altered in some way – probably run over by cars or stepped on by people fleeing the area. R. 105, ll. 4-17. The police also found “eight patterns of blood in the roadway right outside the bar.” R. 76, ll. 20-23. Additionally, the police found three projectiles in the right side of Fred’s car, which was parked at the bar. R. 79, ll. 4-5; R. 88, ll. 5-11. All three were consistent with a .22 caliber. R. 89, ll. 22-23.

One of the first people interviewed by police at the bar was Josie Paxton. R. 30, ll. 19-24; R. 247, ll. 18-24. Paxton provided the police with information that established her ex-boyfriend, Antonio “Bling” Williams, as a suspect. R. 30, l. 25 – R. 31, l. 9; R. 256, l. 18 – R. 257, l. 4; R. 461, ll. 4-13; R. 468, ll. 2-3. When the police met with Paxton, the officer took photographs of text messages from Paxton’s phone. R. 253, ll. 2-10; Defendant’s Exhibits #29, #30, #31. The police claimed they eliminated Bling as a suspect because he did not fit the description of the shooter, which had been provided by Moss and Knightner. R. 257, ll. 5-10. According to police, Bling “was a taller black male” with long dreads, not “a black male, small stature, small eyes and dreads,” which was the description the police had. R. 257, ll. 11-17; see also R. 468, ll. 18-24. The police collected Paxton’s phone. R. 262, ll. 2-4.

Over the course of the investigation, the police interviewed Brittainy Dilworth, who was Brandon’s girlfriend, and her friend, Shalana Weise. R. 259, l. 21 – R. 260, l. 13; R. 324, ll. 17-

20; R. 466, ll. 13-18. Brittainy told the police to investigate Appellant, Jermiel Gartrell and two other people for whom she could only provide "street names." R. 261, ll. 3-8; R. 325, ll. 2-7. There was no indication that Brittainy or Shalana were at the Cockpit during the shooting. However, they had obtained these names from a co-worker, but refused to reveal the name of the co-worker and the police did not attempt to speak directly to the co-worker. R. 264, ll. 16-18.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred by instructing the jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon where the evidence presented would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide because the instruction impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to Appellant and reduced the state's burden of proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

### **Relevant facts**

The solicitor requested the trial judge instruct the jury concerning the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 475, l. 17 – R. 476, l. 18. Defense counsel agreed. R. 477, ll. 11-14. The judge indicated he would include voluntary manslaughter as a lesser included offense on the verdict form and in his instructions to the jury. R. 477, ll. 15-20.

During the solicitor's closing argument, she informed the jurors that malice could be "implied by the use of a deadly weapon." R. 495, ll. 22-23. According to the solicitor, malice could "also be implied by shooting that deadly weapon into somebody." R. 495, ll. 23-24. Defense counsel interrupted the argument and requested a bench conference. R. 495, l. 25. Thereafter, an off-the-record conference ensued. R. 496, l. 2.

At the conclusion of the solicitor's closing argument, the judge stated he had "re-read Belcher." R. 508, l. 25. According to the judge's reading of Belcher, "that inference of malice with proof or use of a weapon is not proper when self defense is presented to the jury. ... If self defense is not presented to the jury, then use of a weapon is allowable as an inference of malice." R. 508, l. 25 – R. 509, l. 6. Defense counsel argued that "if there were any mitigating circumstances surrounding the event," then the inferred malice from the use of a deadly weapon charge was not permitted. R. 509, ll. 8-16.

Thereafter, the judge instructed the jury that malice may “rise when a deed is done by the use of a deadly weapon.” R. 519, ll. 21-22. He reminded the jurors that he had “defined ... a deadly weapon [as] any article or instrument which is likely to cause death or great bodily harm.” R. 519, ll. 22-25. He also stated that “a gun or a knife or a weapon such as that is an example of a deadly weapon.” R. 520, ll. 2-3.

At the conclusion of his instructions, the judge asked if the lawyers had “[a]ny exceptions or additions to the instructions.” R. 527, ll. 4-5. Defense counsel explained she wanted to “make sure” she “renewed [her] Belcher position.” R. 527, ll. 21-24.

### **Discussion**

The Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments require that the state must prove each element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 595, 602 S.E.2d 392, 400 (2004) (“[T]he United States Supreme Court recently has re-emphasized the constitutional protections of surpassing importance contained in the Fourteenth Amendment’s due process clause and the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, which indisputably entitle a defendant to a jury determination that he is guilty of every element of the crime which he is charged, beyond a reasonable doubt”) (internal quotations omitted); see also In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970) (“[W]e explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged.”); Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 314 (1979) (“A meaningful opportunity to defend, if not the right to trial itself, presumes as well that a total want of evidence to support a charge will conclude the case in favor of the accused.”). When a jury charge creates a mandatory presumption and impermissibly shifts the burden of proof to the

defendant, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is violated. Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 524 (1979); Mullaney v. Wilbur, 421 U.S. 684, 703-704 (1975).

In State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 600, 685 S.E.2d 802, 803-804 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court overruled prior law and held “that a jury charge instructing that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon is no longer good law in South Carolina where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the homicide.”

Belcher was convicted of murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime following the shooting of his cousin. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 600, 685 S.E.2d at 803. The jury was charged with the offenses of murder and voluntary manslaughter, as well as self-defense. Id. The Court noted that of special importance was the jury instruction that permits an inference of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. Id. Belcher argued on direct appeal that because the evidence presented a jury question on self-defense, the trial judge committed error by charging the jury that it may infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 601, 685 S.E.2d at 804. Belcher asserted that the permissive inference charge violated South Carolina common law and the state’s constitutional prohibition against charging juries on the facts. Belcher, 385 S.C. at 602, 685 S.E.2d at 804.

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