RECEIVED

FEB 26 2020

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Lexington County

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

GREGORY LAMONT BROOKS,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2016-002301

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SAMUEL BAILEY
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103131

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III.
Solicitor, 11th Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

During closing argument, the State presented to the jury that “[m]alice can be expressed. Somebody can verbalize their malicious intent or it can be implied. It can be implied by the use of a deadly weapon. It can also be implied by shooting that deadly weapon into somebody.” (R. p. 495, ll. 20-24). Defense then requested a sidebar. (R. p. 495, l. 25). After the State's closing and away from the jury, the Court indicated to Defense Counsel that it had reread *State v. Belcher* and understood it to apply only to self-defense. (R. p. 508, l. 25 – p. 509, l. 7); *see also*

State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009). In light of its determination, the Court provided the following instructions to the jury regarding murder:

Malice also may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard of human life. Inferred malice may also rise when a deed is done by use of a deadly weapon. I defined for you a deadly weapon is any article or instrument which is likely to cause death or great bodily harm. Whether an instrument has been used as a deadly weapon depends upon the facts and circumstances of each case. I tell you a gun or a knife or a weapon such as that is an example of a deadly weapon.

(R. p. 519, l. 20 – p. 520, l. 3).

Thereafter the court provided a jury instruction for voluntary manslaughter. (R. p. 520, l. 4 – p. 522, l. 2). Defense Counsel then took the opportunity to renew its objection in regards to *Belcher*. (R. p. 527, ll. 21-22).

- b. Because Appellant was not entitled to the voluntary manslaughter charge, the inferred malice instruction did not violate the holding in *State v. Belcher*.**

Standard of Review

"Appellate courts review only errors of law and will not reverse a trial court's decision concerning jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." *State v. Miller*, 397 S.C. 630, 634-35, 725 S.E.2d 724, 727 (Ct. App. 2012). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the [trial] court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law." *State v. Garris*, 394 S.C. 336, 344, 714 S.E.2d 888, 893 (Ct. App. 2011). This Court "must consider the [trial] court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." *State v. Adkins*, 353 S.C. 312, 577 S.E.2d 460, 463 (Ct. App. 2003). "If as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error." *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000) (citing *State v. Smith*, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994)).

Argument

The implied malice instruction did not violate the Court's holding in *State v. Belcher* because there was no evidence presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing of Brandon Ratliffe. See *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 810 (2009). "The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial." *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 261-62, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). "A trial judge is required to charge a jury on a lesser included offense if there is evidence from which it could be inferred that a defendant committed the lesser offense rather than the greater." *State v. Drafts*, 288 S.C. 30, 32, 340 S.E.2d 784, 785 (1986). "In determining whether the evidence requires a charge of voluntary manslaughter, the trial court views the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant." *State v. Hernandez*, 386 S.C. 655, 660, 690 S.E.2d 582, 585 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *State v. Byrd*, 323 S.C. 319, 321, 474 S.E.2d 430, 431 (1996)). However, "[a]n instruction should not be given unless justified by the evidence." *State v. Moultrie*, 273 S.C. 532, 534, 257 S.E.2d 730, 731 (1979).

"To receive a voluntary manslaughter charge, there must be evidence of sufficient legal provocation and sudden heat of passion." *State v. Niles*, 412 S.C. 515, 522, 772 S.E.2d 877, 880 (2015) (citing *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000)). "Sufficient legal provocation must include more than "mere words" or a display of a willingness to fight without an overt, threatening act." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Rogers*, 320 S.C. 520, 525, 466 S.E.2d 360, 362-63 (1996)). "Neither the exercise of a legal right nor a victim's attempts to resist or defend himself from crime constitute sufficient legal provocation." *Id.* (citing *State v. Ivey*, 325 S.C. 137, 142, 481 S.E.2d 125, 127 (1997); *State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 632, 545 S.E.2d 805, 819 (2001)). It was improper to permit Appellant a charge on voluntary manslaughter because

nothing in the evidence shows that the victim, Brandon Ratliffe, provoked Appellant into discharging his firearm.

At trial Defense Counsel did not illicit any evidence, at any time, that the victim, Brandon Ratliffe, provoked Appellant into firing the weapon.² The Defense did illicit testimony that Brandon owned a firearm that he had placed in Fred Moss's car the evening of the murder and that only the empty holster was found by law enforcement. Nevertheless, both the direct testimony from Fred Moss and Rickena Knighter failed to make any mention that Brandon did anything to provoke the shooting.

Testimony at trial did indicate that while outside Fred pretended to be armed in an attempt to thwart being violently assaulted by Appellant and his friends. However, while “[a]n overt, threatening act or a physical encounter may constitute sufficient legal provocation” (*State v. Hernandez*, 386 S.C. 655, 661, 690 S.E.2d 582, 585 (Ct.App.2010)), a “[s]ufficient provocation necessary to justify a voluntary manslaughter charge must come from the victim and not be transferred from a third-party to the victim.” *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 362-63, 535 S.E.2d 420, 425 (2000).

In *State v. Childers*, the appellant was on trial for the murder of his former girlfriend. At trial he claimed the victim's former brother-in-law shot at him first. He then returned fire, and in doing so, he shot the victim. Appellant also testified he did not visit the victim that night with the intention of shooting anyone, but he fired because he was fired upon. *State v. Childers*, 373 S.C. 367, 370–71, 645 S.E.2d 233, 235 (2007). Appellant claimed that the trial court erred in denying

²See *State v. Key*, 256 S.C. 90, 97, 180 S.E.2d 888, 891 (1971) (“It is academic that failure of the defendants to testify created no inference of guilt against them. They did not have the burden of proving anything. However, undisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony which is in dispute, and it is less difficult for this court to reason that guilt is conclusively proven when there is no denial, than when an accused person disputes the truthfulness of the State's evidence.”)

him a jury charge on voluntary manslaughter. The Supreme Court of South Carolina upheld the trial court's decision. The Court concluded:

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Childers, this factual scenario is completely void of any evidence supporting a charge of voluntary manslaughter. Childers testified he was provoked by the victim's former brother-in-law and he fired his gun in response to being first shot at by the ex-brother-in-law. Childers' testimony does not support the contention that the killing was in the sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation by the victim because, contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, the overt act that produces the sudden heat of passion must be made by the victim.

Id. at 373–74, 645 S.E.2d at 236 (citing to *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 363, 535 S.E.2d 420, 425 (2000) (the defendant was not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter charge because the “overt act was made by a third party, not the deceased, and South Carolina has not recognize sufficient legal provocation from a third party that can be transferred to the victim.”); *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 171, 478 S.E.2d 260, 269 (1996) (“The provocation must come from some act of or related to the victim in order to constitute sufficient legal provocation.”).

In *State v. Wharton*, the Court again addressed the issue of transferred intent in regards to voluntary manslaughter. The Court expressly found that the record was devoid of legal provocation, but nonetheless concluded “. . . *Childers* was not a majority opinion, and the applicability of the doctrine of transferred intent to voluntary manslaughter cases where the defendant kills an unintended victim upon sufficient legal provocation committed by a third party remains an unsettled question in South Carolina.”

However, *Wharton* is irreconcilable with *State v. Locklair* and *State v. Tucker*. In both, all five Justices concurred in the opinion.³ In *Locklair*, Appellant argued that the jury could find

³ *State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 363, 535 S.E.2d 420, 425 (2000) (Per Curium by Chief Justice Toal with Justices Moore, Waller, Burnett and Pleicones concurring); *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 171, 478 S.E.2d 260, 269 (1996) (Per Curium by Justice Waller with Justices Toal, Moore Burnett, and Beatty concurring).

voluntary manslaughter because the victim's mother threw a cigarette case at Locklair prior to the shooting. *Locklair*, at 362, 535 S.E.2d at 425. There the Court, quoting from *State v. Tucker*, concluded that "[p]rovocation necessary to support a voluntary manslaughter charge must come from some act of or related to the victim in order to constitute sufficient legal provocation." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Tucker*, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996)). Despite *Wharton*, the weight of Supreme Court precedence would hold that, even if Appellant was reacting to Fred's gestures when he fired, this could not constitute sufficient provocation to justify a charge of voluntary manslaughter.

Nevertheless, despite third party provocation, the evidence presented at trial fails to show the element necessary for voluntary manslaughter. In *State v. Starnes* the Supreme Court held:

We have consistently held that both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing. [*State v. Wharton*, 381 S.C. 209, 215, 672 S.E.2d 786, 788 (2009)]. A defendant is not entitled to a voluntary manslaughter charge merely because he was in a heat of passion. *See id.* (holding the State's request for a voluntary manslaughter charge was not warranted where there was no evidence of sufficient legal provocation, although the defendant may have been acting under heat of passion). Conversely, a defendant is not entitled to voluntary manslaughter merely because he was legally provoked. *See State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 576, 647 S.E.2d 144, 170 (2007) (holding although sufficient legal provocation arguably existed, there was no evidence the defendant was in a heat of passion). Moreover, there must be evidence that the heat of passion was caused by sufficient legal provocation.

State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 596–97, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2010)

Fred Moss testified that he had his hands raised in a non-threatening manner in the moment preceding the shooting. *See R. p. 170, 19-22; p. 199, l. 15 – p. 200, l. 1.* In addition, Rickena Knighter testified that Appellant took a moment to tell her to take cover prior to opening fire. *See R. p. 363, ll. 4-8.* "[E]ven when a person's passion is sufficiently aroused by a legally adequate provocation, if at the time of the killing those passions had cooled or a sufficiently reasonable time had elapsed so that the passions of the ordinary reasonable person would have

cooled, the killing would be murder and not manslaughter. Whether an accused cooled off prior to a violent act must be determined by a review of all the circumstances surrounding the event and the people involved." *Hernandez, at 660, 690 S.E.2d at 585* (internal citations omitted).

Even if Fred's actions are considered, the evidence would indicate that sufficient provocation did not exist. Alternatively, the fact that Appellant had the wherewithal to warn others to take cover shows that he was no longer in the heat of passion. Given the totality of the evidence presented at trial, the voluntary manslaughter charge given was incorrect, making the malice portion of the charge proper under the circumstances.⁴

c. Harmless Error—Notwithstanding Any Error From The Malice Instruction, The Only Conclusion Established From The Evidence Presented At Trial Was That Appellant Was Guilty Of Murder.

Standard of Review

"Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis." *Belcher, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809*. The Court should uphold a conviction if it determines, beyond a reasonable doubt, the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained. *Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824, 828 (1967)*. "Whether or not the [implied malice charge] was harmless is a fact-intensive inquiry" as to whether the charge contributed to the guilty verdict rendered. *State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435 (2014)*. Where there is no indication that the jury based its verdict on an improper malice portion of the charge, any error in that instruction is harmless. *See State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 264, 741 S.E.2d 708, 714 (2013)*.

⁴ "[T]his court[] may affirm a trial [court's] decision on any ground appearing in the record and, hence, may affirm the trial [court's] correct result even though [it] may have erred on some other ground." *Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Mkt., Inc., 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct. App. 1987)*. The reasoning adopted by the trial court is not binding upon this court if the record discloses a correct result. *Id.*; see also Rule 220(c), SCACR" *Fay v. Grand Strand Reg'l Med. Ctr., LLC, 412 S.C. 185, 195, 771 S.E.2d 639, 645 (Ct. App. 2015)*.

Argument

In *Belcher* the Court held that “[i]n many murder prosecutions . . . there will be overwhelming evidence of malice apart from the use of a deadly weapon.” *State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 611, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009). In *State v. Stanko*, the South Carolina Supreme Court dealt with the exact issue as to whether a malice instruction, found to be impermissibly burden shifting, could nonetheless be found harmless. *State v. Stanko*, 402 S.C. 252, 741 S.E.2d 708 (2013). There the Supreme Court acknowledged that the trial court erred in giving a malice instruction when evidence was presented that could mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide. *Id.* at 263-64, 741 S.E.2d at 714. However, the Court reaffirmed “[e]rrors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to a harmless error analysis.” *Id.* at 264, 741 S.E.2d at 714 (citing *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 611, 685 S.E.2d at 809). It held “[j]ury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which may be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 27, 538 S.E.2d 248, 251 (2000)). After an evaluation of all of the evidence presented on malice and an evaluation of the jury charge, the *Stanko* Court found that the jury did not rest its verdict on a presumption of malice from the use of a deadly weapon. *Id.* at 265, 741 S.E.2d at 714-15.

This is exactly what occurred in Appellant’s case. The State presented numerous examples of malice for the jury to base its determination. For example, after the aggressive encounter with Appellant and his friends inside the Cockpit Bar and Grill, Brandon, Andre, and Fred sought to avoid violence by leaving. However, despite leaving the bar and proceeding to their cars, Appellant and his friends continued to stalk the group of friends into the parking lot. Moreover, the evidence shows that Appellant and his friend brandished their firearms, threatening Brandon and Fred. (R. p. 169, ll. 17-22; p. 200, ll. 17-22). Fred also testified that he raised his hands in a

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